STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Oconee County

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 26 2022**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DECOTA CASTLE BROWN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000744

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err by failing to grant a mistrial when the solicitor elicited improper bolstering testimony from the police chief regarding the chief's belief in the veracity of state's key witness against Appellant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 22, 2019, an Oconee County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder, burglary in the first degree, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 599-600; R. 603-604. The state, represented by Jason Alderman and Blair Stoudemire, called the case to trial before the Honorable Perry Gravely and a jury on June 28, 2021, through July 1, 2021. R. 1-2. Kathleen Hodges represented Appellant. R. 2. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 595, ll. 11-23. Judge Gravely sentenced Appellant to fifty years for murder, fifteen years for burglary in the first degree, and five years for the weapon. R. 597, l. 19 – R. 598, l. 2; R. 601-602; R. 605. He ordered the sentences to be served consecutively for a total of seventy years. R. 597, l. 22; R. 598, l. 2; R. 601-602; R. 605.

On July 12, 2021, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). "Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge." Id. at 457-58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477-478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was the biological nephew of Dee Anna Brown. R. 17, ll. 7; R. 150, ll. 12-15. She and her husband, Eric Brown, adopted Appellant and his siblings in 2001, when Appellant was three years old. R. 17, l. 7-13 – R.18, l. 2; R. 150, ll. 12-20. Appellant’s parents struggled with drug addiction, which required the removal of Appellant and his siblings from their custody. R. 17, ll. 7-13; R. 150, ll. 12-20. At some point, Dee Anna and Eric determined Appellant was no longer allowed to live with them. R. 151, ll. 9-11. In January 2019, Eric dropped Appellant off in the middle of the Mill Hill, where Appellant vaguely claimed he had a place to stay. R. 152, ll. 2-10. Eric last saw Appellant walking away from him across a parking lot. R. 152, ll. 12-13.

Dee Anna’s mother, Geraldine Castle, lived in Walhalla on March 7, 2019, but she was staying overnight at Dee Anna’s home because she had a doctor’s appointment on March 8, 2019. R. 20, l. 23 – R. 21, l. 8. When Dee Anna left for work on March 7, Geraldine was the only one in the home. R. 22, ll. 11-13.

Around 6 p.m. on March 7, Dee Anna received a phone call from Geraldine’s number, but the call disconnected almost immediately. R. 26, ll. 2-6. When Dee Anna finally reached Geraldine by phone, Geraldine sounded “groggy.” R. 27, ll. 11-19. Worried, Dee Anna instructed her son, Kyle, to go to the house. R. 28, ll. 9-25. Dee Anna also called 911 and left work to go home as soon as she could. R. 28, ll. 5-8; R. 30, ll. 13-22. Later, Dee Anna learned Geraldine had been shot. R. 34, ll. 2-8; see also R. 156, ll. 1.

Hunter Hunnicut stayed in an area of the Mill Hill called the compound. R. 173, ll. 20. While living there, Hunnicut met Appellant. R. 175, ll. 14-16. People at the compound generally got high together. R. 177, ll. 13-14. Hunnicut later told the police that Appellant told

him of a place where they could steal guns, which they could then sell. R. 178, l. 23 – R. 179, l. 6. Beginning on March 6, the two got high and did not sleep. R. 180, l. 19 – R. 181, l. 10. Then, on March 7, the two went to a soup kitchen in Seneca for lunch. R. 182, ll. 13. Thereafter, Hunnicut and Appellant boarded a bus to get to the home of Dee Anna and Eric Brown. R. 182, ll. 24-25. Although the bus broke down, the two allegedly walked the rest of the way to the home. R. 183, ll. 8-11.

Hunnicut broke the glass of a basement window, which he used to access the interior of the house. R. 193, ll. 20. Hunnicut claimed he then unlocked the door so that Appellant could enter. R. 193, l. 20 - R. 194, l. 24. According to Hunnicut, he and Appellant saw Geraldine, Appellant's grandmother, sitting in a chair in the living room. R. 197, ll. 13-14. Hunnicut alleged that while he walked to a back bedroom, he heard gunfire and a woman screaming. R. 203, ll. 5-6. Thereafter, Hunnicut alleged, he and Appellant tried to get into a safe in a bedroom. R. 206, ll. 4-5. When Hunnicut re-entered the living room to tell the screaming Geraldine to be quiet, Hunnicut claimed that Appellant walked past him and shot Geraldine. R. 208, ll. 15-16. The two then ran out of the house without stealing anything. R. 210, l. 10 - R. 211, l. 5; see also R. 161, ll. 23-25.

Afterward, Hunnicut returned to the compound where he got high. R. 218, ll. 5; R. 221, ll. 16. The following day, Hunnicut contacted the police by phone. R. 227, ll. 22-23. Later, he met with police officers and provided multiple statements of what he claimed happened on March 7, 2019. R. 227, l. 22 - R. 234, l. 14. Initially, Hunnicut told the police that he *and* Appellant shot Geraldine. R. 231, ll. 16; R. 242, ll. 9. He later changed his story to place the blame on Appellant alone for the shooting. R. 234, ll. 12-14.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred by failing to grant a mistrial when the solicitor elicited improper bolstering testimony from the police chief regarding the chief's belief in the veracity of state's key witness against Appellant.

### **Relevant facts**

At the time of Appellant's trial, Casey Bowling was the "chief police second" for the Seneca Police Department. R. 479, ll. 20-23. At the time of the shooting, he was the "captain over investigative division." R. 479, ll. 1-2. He responded to the scene of the shooting on March 7, 2019, where he was the highest-ranking officer. R. 480, ll. 12-14. The following morning, he learned that Hunter Hunnicut had information for the police regarding the shooting. R. 482, ll. 15-25. Bowling and Hunnicut spoke by phone that morning, and Hunter indicated "he wanted to come clean." R. 483, ll. 1-7. Bowling and Hunnicut had a special relationship. Bowling "was an actual SRO at Seneca Middle School at one time," and he met Hunnicut then. R. 484, ll. 17-23. Bowling knew that Hunnicut "came through a rough life" and "[d]idn't really have a stable home life at all." R. 485, ll. 23-25. He knew Hunnicut was "dabbing into the drug world." R. 485, ll. 1-2.

Initially, Hunnicut told Bowling that he and Appellant broke into the house to steal guns. R. 484, ll. 4-8. Hunnicut also told Bowling that he shot the deceased at least once. R. 487, ll. 23-25. In fact, Hunnicut informed the police that he took the gun from Appellant in order to shoot the deceased. R. 487, l. 25 – R. 488, l. 1. Less than a week later, Hunnicut changed his story. R. 486, ll. 22-25. During this time, Hunnicut was "very emotion about it" and "scared." R. 488, ll. 4-5. In his second statement, Hunnicut alleged Appellant had fired five shots. R. 488, ll. 6-7.

Additionally, Bowling claimed “[t]here was a huge difference in [Hunnicut]” between the first and second statements. R. 487, ll. 1-6. Bowling claimed that during the first statement, “he wasn’t acting like the [Hunnicut] that I knew. He was falling asleep while we were talking to him. We were having to wake him up.... That was very unlike the Hunter that I knew.” R. 487, ll. 1-13. However, Bowling informed the jurors, that Hunnicut “was back to his normal self” for the second interview. R. 487, ll. 14-15. Hunnicut was “very polite, very emotional.” R. 487, ll. 14-16.

After noting the consistencies between Hunnicut’s first and second statements, Bowling asserted there was an inconsistency between Hunnicut’s first and second statements that was significant. Bowling explained that during Hunnicut’s first statement, he held a sword to the deceased’s throat and told her to shut up. R. 488, ll. 21-24. However, in his second statement, Hunnicut “didn’t say anything about the sword,” and Bowling found this “interesting” because the police “never found a sword.” R. 488, l. 24 – R. 489, l. 2. This made Hunnicut’s “second statement ... a lot more truthful than the first statement.” R. 489, ll. 4-6. Furthermore, the Hunnicut’s second statement mentioned “pipes,” and the police “were able to corroborate exactly what [Hunnicut] said” about the pipes. R. 489, ll. 7-12. Then, Bowling claimed the police “were able to corroborate almost everything that [Hunnicut] said in that second statement to be true.” R. 489, ll. 12-15.

Contemporaneously, defense counsel objected to Bowling’s testimony as bolstering another witness. R. 489, ll. 16-17. The judge sustained the objection and informed the jurors that it had been stricken from their consideration. R. 489, ll. 18-23.

Undeterred, the solicitor asked Bowling, “[I]f I understand your testimony, that you tend to believe the second statement?” R. 490, ll. 23-25. Defense counsel promptly objected, and the

judge sustained the objection. R. 491, l. 1. Outside of the presence of the jury, defense counsel moved for a mistrial “based on the fact that the deputy solicitor has asked this witness and this witness has twice testified in a manner which bolsters the credibility of another witness, which is patently inadmissible.” R. 491, ll. 13-19. Defense counsel argued Appellant’s right to a fair and impartial trial was violated due to the solicitor’s questioning and Bowling’s answer invading the province of the jury on the subject of the credibility of the witnesses. R. 491, ll. 19-22.

Seeking no argument from the solicitor, the trial judge ruled that had Bowling “answered the last question, that would have been absolute bolstering.” R. 492, ll. 6-8. The judge ruled that asking whether the witness believed Hunnicut’s testimony was “totally improper.” R. 492, ll. 9-10. However, Bowling did not answer the question; therefore, there was no prejudice “in the fact the question was asked; it was unanswered.” R. 492, ll. 10-12. The judge ruled the prior question and answer and the ones leading up to this penultimate question did not rise “to the level of creating a prejudice requiring a mistrial.” R. 492, ll. 13-15.

## **Discussion**

According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, “[t]he less than lucid test is ... declared to be whether the mistrial was dictated by manifest necessity or the ends of public justice, the latter being defined as the public’s interest in a fair trial designated to end in just judgment.” State v. Prince, 279 S.C. 30, 33, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1983). While a mistrial should be granted only when “absolutely necessary” and when a defendant can show error and resulting prejudice, a mistrial must be ordered when the incident “is so grievous that the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013). Another way of describing when a mistrial must be granted is when there is “manifest necessity.” State v. Bilton, 156 S.C. 324, 153 S.E. 269 (1930). This Court has held a “mistrial should only be granted

when absolutely necessary, and a defendant must show both error and prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial.” State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 585-586, 698 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct. App. 2010). Thus, to warrant reversal, “the errors must adversely affect [the defendant’s] right to a fair trial.” State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999).

“Generally, a curative instruction is deemed to have cured any alleged error.” State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 (Ct. App. 2005). “While an instruction to disregard incompetent evidence usually is deemed to have cured the error in its admission, a mistrial may still be required if on the facts of the particular case it is probable, notwithstanding such instruction or withdrawal, the accused was prejudiced.” State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 446, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 479 S.E.2d 57 (1996)).

“It is axiomatic that the credibility of the testimony of the[] witnesses is for the jury.” State v. Wright, 269 S.C. 414, 417, 237 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1977). The duty of determining the truthfulness of the testimony is “a matter exclusively for the jury.” Id. Thus, witnesses may not comment on the veracity of other witnesses. Burgess v. State, 329 S.C. 88, 91, 495 S.E.2d 445, 447 (1998) (holding trial counsel provided deficient performance by failing to object to questioning that asked a witness to comment on the truthfulness or explain the testimony of another witness because such questioning is improper); see also State v. Sapps, 295 S.C. 484, 486, 369 S.E.2d 145, 145-146 (1988) (holding that “[i]t is improper for the solicitor to cross-examine a witness in such a manner as to force him to attack the veracity of another witness”); State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011) (holding that it is improper “[f]or an expert to comment on the veracity of a child’s accusations of sexual abuse”); Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 569, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010) (holding a forensic interviewer’s opinion testimony improperly bolstered a complaining witness’s

credibility); State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 463-467, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141-143 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding that a forensic interviewer’s testimony about a compelling finding indicated belief in the complainant’s truthfulness and was inadmissible).

In 1989, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that it was improper for the prosecution to ask an expert witness who had treated the alleged victim whether her symptoms were genuine. State v. Dawkins, 297 S.C. 386, 393, 377 S.E.2d 298, 302 (1989). In the years following Dawkins, the appellate courts of South Carolina repeatedly have reminded trial judges and trial lawyers that witnesses, even expert witnesses, may not comment on the credibility of other witnesses. See e.g., State v. Whaley, 305 S.C. 138, 143, 406 S.E.2d 369, 372 (1991) (holding expert eyewitness identification testimony is admissible, but warning that an expert may not “give his or her opinion of a particular witness’ identification”). See also Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 243-245, 814 S.E.2d 487, 491-492 (2018) (holding a witness’s testimony that the alleged victim’s disclosures were “consistent with her own training and experience” was improper bolstering as it was used to enhance the credibility of the alleged victim); Briggs v. State, 421 S.C. 316, 325, 806 S.E.2d 713, 718 (2017) (“When the testimony directly conveys the witness’s opinion that the victim is telling the truth, it is obviously improper bolstering.”); State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 108-109, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015) (holding a witness’s testimony that she recommended the alleged victim not be around Chavis for any reason improperly bolstered the testimony of the alleged victim because it could “only be interpreted as [the witness] believing Victim’s claim that [Chavis] sexually abused her”); State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 359, 737 S.E.2d 490, 500 (2013) (finding error to allow a forensic interviewer to say a minor child gave a “compelling finding” of abuse because it was “the equivalent” of the witness stating the minor child was “telling the truth” ); State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 479-480, 716

S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011) (holding a forensic interviewer's reports that indicated the complaining witnesses provided a "compelling disclosure of abuse" improperly allowed the witness to comment on the veracity of the children because there was "no other way to interpret the language used in the reports other than to mean the forensic interviewer believed the children were being truthful"); S.C. Dept. of Social Services v. Lisa C., 380 S.C. 406, 414, 669 S.E.2d 647, 651-652 (2008) ("For a psychologist to comment on the veracity of a child's accusations of sexual abuse is improper."); State v. Douglas, 367 S.C. 498, 520, 626 S.E.2d 59, 71 (Ct. App. 2006) overruled on other grounds by 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (recognizing that improper bolstering testimony is inadmissible).

The state's case against Appellant hinged upon the credibility of Hunter Hunnicut. There was no physical evidence linking Appellant to the crime. Hunnicut claimed he had not received any deal for his testimony, but he pled guilty to a reduced charge of voluntary manslaughter prior to Appellant's trial and was awaiting sentencing. R. 245, ll. 14-17. The only physical evidence connecting anyone to the crime was Hunnicut's fingerprints inside the home. R. 105, ll. 11-18. Another print from a doorway where the shooter stood was identified as belonging to Burlin Dewayne Whitfield, and the state had no explanation for how his print was there. R. 105, ll. 18-21.

In his closing argument, the solicitor called Hunnicut "an absolute mess." R. 535, l. 7. Hunnicut "fumbled and mumbled through his testimony." R. 535, ll. 9-10. The solicitor promised the jury that he was "not going to sit here and look you in the eye and say that you should believe what Hunter Hunnicut says, because he said - - if he told you that he was going to come cut your grass, I wouldn't ask you to believe it because he said." R. 535, ll. 12-17. Yet, the solicitor needed the jury to believe Hunnicut as he provided the only direct evidence against

Appellant. Thus, it was no surprise that he used the distinguished police captain turned police chief Casey Bowling to bolster Hunnicut's testimony.

The trial judge erred by failing to grant a mistrial based upon the solicitor eliciting improper bolstering testimony from Bowling regarding Bowling's personal opinion of Hunnicut's veracity. The series of questions by the solicitor in which he built the platform upon which to ask the penultimate question of Bowling's opinion necessitated the granting of a mistrial. Although the judge surmised that because Bowling did not answer the penultimate question Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the solicitor's improper question, the judge's ruling failed to account for the solicitor's series of questions that made the answer to the question obvious. In fact, the solicitor prefaced the penultimate question with "So, you're saying that - - if I understand your testimony, that you tend to believe the second statement," where Hunnicut placed the blame on Appellant alone for the shooting. See R. 490, ll. 23-25. The question made clear that the jury already knew the answer based on the prior questioning and answering: Bowling believed Hunnicut's testimony, which was consistent with his trial testimony. Here, the judge simply sustained the objection and stated it was not a proper question. See R. 491, ll. 2-3. He provided no curative instruction at all, and no curative instruction could have removed the taint created by the improper bolstering testimony elicited by the solicitor.

**CONCLUSION**

Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.



Susan B. Hackett  
Appellate Defender  
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT