STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Oconee County
The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Oct 06 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DECOTA CASTLE BROWN,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000744

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DAVID R. WAGNER
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 8002

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Decota Castle Brown (hereinafter “Appellant”) was indicted for first degree burglary (2019-GS-37-00932), murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2019-GS-37-00933). Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Judge Perry Gravely on June 28, 2021 through July 1, 2021. Appellant was represented by attorney Kathleen Hodges, Esquire. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Jason Alderman and Blair Stoudemire, of the Tenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor’s Office. (R. p. 1-2).

At the conclusion of the trial Appellant was found guilty for all indicted charges. (R. p. 595). Judge Gravely sentenced Appellant to 50 years for murder, 15 years for burglary in the first degree, and 5 years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The trial court ruled that these sentences were to run consecutively, totaling 70 years imprisonment. (R. p. 597-598). This appeal now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Crime

In the early evening hours of March 7, 2019, Appellant and Hunter Hunnicut (hereinafter “Hunter”) broke into the Maple Avenue home of Appellant’s adoptive parents, Dee and Eric Brown, with the intent of stealing guns Appellant knew his father to have in the home.^{1 2} (R. p. 15-19). Appellant and Hunter gained entry into the home by Hunter smashing out a basement window, crawling through, and then unlocking the basement door for Appellant. (R. p. 193). Once inside the two culprits made their way up the stairs to the main floor of the home where they

¹ Appellant’s adoptive parents were his biological Aunt, and her husband.

² Appellant had been living in the home for some time, but was no longer welcome due to a drug problem. He began living in an area known as “Mill Hill” at the end of December, 2018. (R. p. 150-152).

encountered the victim of this crime, and Appellant's adoptive grandmother, Ms. Geraldine Castle (hereinafter Victim). (R. p. 197-200). Victim was staying at her daughter's home for the night in anticipation of an upcoming medical appointment. Victim and Appellant shared words briefly, Appellant instructed Hunter to go to the back room, and shortly after Appellant fired his gun multiple times striking Victim in the arm and back shoulder. (R. p. 200-203; p. 519).

Appellant and Hunter then proceeded to his parent's bedroom door. Appellant kicked in the door and attempted to gain entry into his father's safe. Appellant knew this to be the location of his father's guns.³ (R. p. 203-207; 158). However, without the key to the safe Appellant was unable to open the safe. He then left the bedroom and headed back into the main living room. He then approached Victim and fired another shot into the left side of her head. (R. p. 207-209). Appellant and Hunter fled the home through the basement door and through the woods behind the home. Appellant called his friend Lisa Broach to come pick them up. She obliged, and approximately five minutes later the culprits left the scene. (R. p. 210; p. 216-217).

Victim did not die immediately and attempted to phone her daughter at work. Dee Brown called her mother back, heard what she thought to be "groggily speech", and worried that her mother may have fallen or had a stroke. She contacted 911 and her family members, after which EMS responded and rushed Victim to the hospital. Victim passed away four days later as a result of her head wound on March 11, 2019. (R. p. 26-31; p. 69; p. 520).

The Investigation & Evidence

The efforts of law enforcement's investigation produced the following evidence

³ Mr. Brown testified that on a previous occasion he had a problem with Appellant stealing the key to his safe from his dresser drawer so that he could take back his "wooden pipes" confiscated by Mr. Brown. As a result, Mr. Brown chose to no longer keep the safe key in his dresser and started keeping the key in his pocket. (R. p. 160-161).

demonstrating Appellant's guilt. First, Dee Brown's received two phone calls from an unknown number. The first she believed was just an errant or accidental call, but during the second call she heard an unfamiliar voice say: "What are we going to do now". During that same call she then heard the voice of her son say: "Just get in the car." (R. p. 23-25; p. 481). Additionally, two Maple Avenue neighbors of the Brown family saw two suspects back behind the home at the approximate time of the crime. Sarah Howard testified that she saw two suspects leaving the house and coming across the back of her lot and the power line easement behind the neighborhood. Though she did not a get a look at his face, she was confident in testifying that the stockier of the two suspects was Appellant, relying upon her familiarity with both his build, his clothing, and the fact that Appellant had done yard work for her in the past. (R. p. 305-308). David Field testified that he had lived on Maple Avenue for eighteen years and knew the Brown family as a result. He testified that he came home around 5:15 or 5:30 pm on March 7, 2019, and "noticed a young man standing on a road behind some bushes a couple houses up the hill from the Brown family." (R. p. 310; p. 311, lines 19-25). Shortly after, he took his dog for a walk and noticed two individuals in the power line right-of-way "fidgeting around in some taller brush" behind the homes. (R. p. 313-314). Mr. Fields recognized one of the boys as the individual he saw when he first arrived home. The other he recognized as being one of the people who resided in the Brown home; Mr. Fields identified Appellant in court as the other individual he saw that day. (R. p. 314, lines 7-19).

On March 8, 2019, Hunter voluntarily contacted law enforcement in order to "come clean" about what had taken place at the crime scene. (R. p. 482-483). Chief Bowling knew Hunter from prior school incidents when he served as a school resource officer (R. p. 484); he spoke with Hunter on the phone that morning and suggested that he come in to meet with them. Hunter did so voluntarily by accepting a ride to the station by a patrol officer. (R. p. 483).

Miranda warnings were given, Chief Bowling conducted the interview, and Investigator Watts wrote down everything Hunter told them. (R. p. 61-62). Upon his first discussion with Hunter, Chief Bowling was informed that Hunter and Appellant broke into the house together to steal guns and that Hunter wanted to “come clean” about the incident. (R. p. 484). Chief Bowling testified as to noticing a substantial difference in Hunter’s demeanor and behavior between the first statement and the second statement given a few days later. He noted that Hunter was extremely lethargic and falling asleep during their first discussion. Chief Bowling testified that they were having to wake him up during the interview. Chief Bowling testified that it was obvious to him that Hunter was “coming off of something during that first interview.” (R. p. 486-487). Ultimately, Hunter’s first statement to police indicated that he and Appellant broke into the home for the purpose of stealing guns, that both he and Appellant fired the gun at Victim, and that he held a “sword” up to Victim’s neck when following the instruction of Appellant to tell Victim to shut up. (R. p. 488). Investigator Watts testified that she wrote down the contents of Hunter’s first statement, and that in addition to identifying Appellant and Hunter as the culprits, it furthered their investigation into other areas not yet known to police. Investigator Watts also testified that Hunter’s statement contained details that only someone who was present at the crime would possess. (R. p. 63).

A few days later Hunter gave a second statement to police. For the second interview Chief Bowling testified that Hunter was back to behaving like his normal self, was polite, and very emotional. Chief Bowling acknowledged that there were inconsistencies between the content of the first interview and the second; notably that Hunter did not participate in actually shooting the gun at Victim, but that Appellant fired all 5 shots that he recalled. (R. p. 487-488). It also differed in having no mention of a sword held to Victim’s throat when he told her to shut up. (R. p. 488).

Chief Bowling then testified as to the similarities between the two statements; for which there were several. Among these various similarities were: 1) recalling the same number of fired shots total; 2) that their intent was to steal guns and that Appellant had told him there were guns in the house; and 3) that Appellant had told him to tell Ms. Castle to shut up. (R. p. 488). The second interview also provided law enforcement with the location of items that Hunter and Appellant hid in the pipes in the woods after fleeing the scene. (R. p. 489). These items were collected as evidence.

In addition to the statements given to law enforcement, Hunter testified extensively at trial. Hunter testified that he was living in the “Mill Hill” (aka “the compound”) for a while and met Appellant as a result.⁴ He described it as a place where people went to get high. He and Appellant would often do drugs together⁵, and he had been doing drugs consistently for days prior to the crime. (R. p. 173-176; p. 180-181; p. 287). Hunter testified that Appellant approached him the day before the crime about robbing someone for guns, and that Appellant knew a place they could do so. Their plan was to steal the guns, keep some for themselves, and sell the others. Appellant did not tell Hunter in advance where he intended to go, but they went together to the soup kitchen, then took the bus toward Appellant’s intended destination. (R. p. 178-180).

Appellant brought a book bag of items with him. The bus stopped short of their destination due to mechanical problems, and they walked the remaining short distance. As part of the plan, they split up as they approached the Maple Avenue address. Hunter was to stand at the top of the road as a lookout of sorts, while Appellant approached the home from the woods to see if anyone was home. (R. p. 185-186). After checking the home, Appellant signaled for Hunter to come down to the house; at this point Hunter knew this house belonged to Appellant’s mother. (R. p. 187-190).

⁴ Hunter testified that he knows Appellant by the nickname “KID”, which stands for “Killer In Disguise”. (R. p. 176).

⁵ This included the morning of the crime.

They walked to the back of the house and Appellant attempted to pry the basement window open with a crowbar. When that effort failed Hunter busted out the window with the crowbar, crawled down onto the washer and dryer, left the window open, and unlocked the basement door for Appellant. (R. p. 190-196).

Hunter and Appellant proceeded upstairs, and Hunter alerted Appellant upon seeing Victim sitting in the living room. (R. p. 197-200; p. 46). He also heard dogs barking and identified them as German Shepherds.⁶ (R. p. 200). Appellant told Hunter “not to worry about it”. After which Appellant walked over to Victim, and they “had their words” with each other. Hunter could not tell what was said, but from her tone of voice it sound as though the woman was scared. Appellant came back toward Hunter and then went into the kitchen; he told Hunter to go to the back room. Hunter was not sure which back room Appellant meant, but headed that way regardless. (R. p. 200-202). While Hunter was headed to the back room, Appellant shot Victim. Though Hunter did not see the gunfire, he heard it and heard the woman scream. Hunter recalled hearing five gunshots, but agreed that it could have been less or more. Hunter also knew the gunfire came from Appellant, as he knew Appellant to always carry a small .32 caliber pistol. (R. p. 203). Hunter’s familiarity and recollection of Appellant’s pistol was corroborated, as the shell casings found at the scene were all .32 Auto NW. (R. p. 111).

Appellant then quickly walked to his parent’s bedroom, kicked in the door, and attempted to open the closet safe. Hunter followed and watched; he testified that Appellant tried for a minute to get the safe open, but was unsuccessful. During that time period Appellant instructed Hunter to get Victim to shut up. Hunter complied by telling her to do so from the hallway. (R. p. 203-208). Appellant soon walked by Hunter in the hallway, approached Victim in the living room, aimed at

⁶ Eric Brown’s testimony confirmed that he owned a German Shepherd. (R. p. 168).

her head and shot her. (R. p. 208, line 12 through p. 209, line 24). Hunter testified that he was scared of Appellant at this point and he took off running back down the stairs. Appellant ran out the house behind him. They exited through the basement door and went through the woods behind the house. It was in those woods that Appellant removed his book bag of items and put it in the blue pipe, along with their jackets. (R. 210-211; p. 213).

Hunter testified that they followed a dirt trail through the woods that led to the main road on the other side. He testified that Appellant called Lisa Broach (hereinafter "Lisa") in order to have her come pick them up.⁷ (R. p. 213; p. 216-217). After approximately five minutes Lisa arrived. They jumped in the car and returned to Mill Hill. (R. p. 217-218).

When they arrived back at Mill Hill, Steve Broach came and talked to Appellant.⁸ Steve Broach was Lisa's husband and also lived in Mill Hill. Appellant confessed to Steve that he had committed the murder. After which, Appellant, Steve, and Lisa left. (R. p. 218-219). Hunter never saw Appellant again, but he did share text messages from Appellant. Those texts included discussions of them being on the news, how Hunter could have been identified, and that for Hunter to "remember what we said" which he explained was a pact between him and Appellant not to talk to the police. (R. p. 221-227). However, Hunter testified that he called the police to confess the next morning.

Hunter confessed that his first statement was not entirely true, as his first statement indicated that he and Appellant both took part in shooting at Victim with Appellant's gun and that he held knife to Victim.⁹ He commented that he was scared, wanted to throw off the police, wanted

⁷ Hunter knew Lisa Broach from having grown up with her son.

⁸ Appellant was living with Steve Broach. (R. p. 326).

⁹ Hunter's first statement also included a supposed confession to killing someone else unrelated to this crime and stealing \$20,000 from them. (R. p. 271).

to look cool, and was high at the time of his first statement. He testified that he gave his second statement to be honest and ensure the family had closure. (R. p. 231-235; p. 265; p. 267). Hunter testified that he pled guilty to burglary and voluntary manslaughter, but had not yet been sentenced. (R. p. 245-246).

The remaining evidence and testimony at trial revealed the following:

- Hunter's fingerprints matched those lifted from the washing machine¹⁰ (R. p. 104);
- Eric Brown testified that nothing in the home was missing, despite the availability of jewelry and money. The efforts seemed directed only toward his gun safe (R. p. 162);
- Lisa testified that she picked up Appellant and Hunter on March 7th (R. p. 329);
- Though Appellant claimed to be fine, she could tell he was upset (R. p. 328);
- When Steve left the trailer after speaking to Appellant he was holding a Crown Royal type bag and was noticeably upset. She, Steve, and Amber drove to a bridge on Murr Road. She watched Steve leave the car with the bag, approach the water, and return without the bag (R. p. 330-333);
- They all went to a hotel that night, including Appellant, and they had a conversation with Appellant about turning himself in (R. p. 334; p. 345);
- Police acquired the numbers for Appellant, Hunter, Lisa, and Dee Brown. The call history and cell site location data corroborated the times, circumstances, and location of the crime to that of the corresponding cell tower used by Appellant and

¹⁰ Police also found a matching fingerprint on the basement doorframe to someone named "Burlin Dewayne Whitfield". However, there was absolutely no other evidence linking that individual to the scene or to the crime. Police deduced that the print could have come well before the crime under any number of circumstances.

Hunter's phones (R. p. 423-449; p. 501).

ISSUE AS IT WAS PRESENTED AT TRIAL

The assistant solicitor asked Chief Bowling to discuss the inconsistencies between the two statements. (R. p. 487, lines 20-23). In response he testified that law enforcement was able to corroborate more of the second statement than the first, noting specifically officers finding the blue pipe and the hidden items that Hunter disclosed in his second statement. However, Appellant argues that Chief Bowling took his answer too far when he went beyond corroboration and stated that "we were able to corroborate almost everything that Hunter said in that second statement *to be true.*" An immediate objection was made to that statement, it was sustained, the statement was struck, and Judge Gravely gave a curative instruction that the jury was not permitted to consider the statement as part of their deliberations. (R. p. 489, lines 8-25)(emphasis added).

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